THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

MAY 11 2021

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2020-000533

The Honorable William A. McKinnon

---

Trial Court Case No. 2017GS4603041

---

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Jeffrey Jack Dauer,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Daniel D. D'Agostino  
Jacqueline N. Davis  
D'AGOSTINO LAW FIRM  
25 W. Liberty St.  
York, South Carolina 29745  
Office: (803) 628-6509  
Attorneys for Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in not granting a directed verdict at the close of the state's case?

Did the trial judge err in not striking Stephanie Jarrett's none responsive statement as to the Appellant's state of mind.

Did the trial judge err in not charging the jury on a definition of indecent as a Appellant requested?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The defendant was indicted on the charge of indecent exposure, violation of South Carolina Code Section 16-15-130. The grand jury indicted him on July 20, 2017 (Indictment; R. pp. 1-2). The state called the case for trial on March 10, 2020 and the trial ended with a guilty verdict on March 11, 2020. The Appellant was sentenced to probation. The Appellant was not placed on the sexual offender registry (Sentencing Sheet; R. p. 3). The Appellant timely appealed his sentence on March 20, 2020.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Appellant was charged with indecent exposure, violation of South Carolina Code Section 16-15-130 and the indictment was True Bill on July 20, 2017. The indictment alleged that the Appellant on April 21, 2017 did indecently expose himself in the City of York, Walmart parking lot. The indictment tracks the language of the statute. The State called the case to trial and presented the testimony of Sergeant Baker, III, Officer Williams, Officer Hawkins, Kasie Parker (Walmart Loss prevention) Michael Davis (Solicitor's office's IT person) and Stephanie Jarrett. The first three witnesses were officers who responded to the scene. Officer Baker and Officer Williams stopped the Appellant, removed him from the car and waited until Officer Hawkins arrived. Officer Hawkins met with Stephanie Jarrett for a few minutes, came to where the officers were detaining then placed the Appellant under arrest. Kassie Parker worked for Walmart in loss prevention and authenticated the unredacted video tapes which were used throughout the trial of this case. Mr. Davis works for the Solicitor's Office of the 16<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit and spliced the various videos together and highlighted the Appellant's route in the

Walmart parking lot. Stephanie Jarrett was the individual who testified she saw the Appellant and is the basis of the indecent exposure charge.

In summary, none of the officers saw the Appellant engage in any indecent conduct. The videos which were introduced as exhibits 1, 3, 4, 8, 9 and 10 reflect what occurred throughout the entirety of the officer's interaction with the Appellant. The officers pulled the Appellant over. He exited the vehicle. The officers testified that his shorts were loose and his drawstrings were untied. All of this interaction is visible on the videos. Exhibits 1, 3 and 4 are the videos of the Appellant's unredacted interaction with the officers. Exhibits 1 and 3 are the videos of the officers as they stop the Appellant. Of significance on these videos is that when they pull the Appellant over, his car windows are up on the front passenger side, the driver side and the rear windows are only partially down. The rear windows are also tinted. In addition, the videos show the clutter on the interior of the vehicle as it existed when the Appellant was pulled over immediately after Ms. Jarrett states she observed Appellant. The videos also show the Appellant with his shorts pulled up and a set of boxers underneath his shorts.

Exhibit 4 includes the contact and interview of Officer Hawkins with Stephanie Jarrett in the parking lot. In this initial exchange that lasted just a few minutes, she told the officer all the windows were down in Appellant's vehicle, the vehicle had been driving around numerous times and allegedly pacing her. At trial, the videos which were produced and played demonstrated that this is not accurate. The videos also show that Appellant's vehicle passed Ms. Jarrett while she was walking to her vehicle with her on the passenger side of the vehicle and the Appellant never slowed or stopped and he took less than 2 seconds to go past her.

The witness Kasie Parker provided the court with Exhibit 8 and Exhibit 9 which were the complete videos from the various locations at Walmart. Most importantly, Exhibit No. 10 is the compilation which Michael Davis put together. This video shows Appellant's vehicle highlighted as it traveled throughout the parking lot. Of note is that the vehicle is gone for approximately 6 to 7 minutes from the video. In addition, in studying the video, it is evident that the windows in the Appellant's vehicle on the passenger side were definitely up when he drove by Stephanie Jarrett. In addition, Stephanie Jarrett acknowledged at trial the Appellant was not pacing her or following her (R. p. 161, lines 16 to 23). The substance of Stephanie Jarrett's testimony as to the indecent exposure on direct is as follows:

- A. .... And when I glanced over I saw into his vehicle.  
Q. What did you see when you looked into the vehicle?  
A. His fully erect penis with his hand at the base.  
Q. His hand was at the base of what?  
A. Of his penis.

Transcript (R. pp. 142, lines 4-11)

On redirect,

- Q. Ms. Jarrett, thorough which window did you see Mr. Dauer's penis?  
A. The front passenger.  
Q. And could you clearly see the penis from where you were standing?  
A. Yes

Transcript (R. p. 163, lines 11-18)

On recross:

- Q. You were just asked if your saw his penis.  
A. Yes  
Q. was he doing anything.  
A. His hand was at the base of his penis.  
Q. Hand was at the base of his penis?  
A. And I could see his penis.  
Q. You could see his penis?

A. Yes.  
Q. In that split-second that the car went by?  
A. Yes  
Q. You didn't see the water bottle? You didn't see the bag of clothes?  
Ms. Holt: Objection, Asked and answered.  
The court: Overruled  
A. He made sure I could see it.  
Q. He made---your honor, I move to strike that. How could she know what he was doing?  
The court: I'm going to overrule the objection.  
Q. In that split second?  
A. Yes.

(R. p. 164, lines 1-21)

In the entire trial, that was the entirety of the testimony as it relates to any type of exposure. All three exchanges dealt with the same split second incident. In prior testimony, it was brought out that the Appellant was not pacing her (R. p. 161, lines 16 to 25). In addition, upon a review of the video tapes, Exhibit 10, it is clear the windows on Appellant's car were up when he was pulled over and stopped (State's Exhibits 1 and 3). When the Appellant drove past Ms. Jarrett, the windows were up (State's Exhibits 8, 9 and 10. The time stamp to look at on the videos is 3:19:00 to about 3:23:00. ) In addition, Mr. Davis substantiated the split second amount of time Ms. Jarrett was near the Appellant (R. p. 130, line 24 - p. 136 line 25).

The Appellant made a motion for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case (R. p. 165 – p.173). The trial court denied the motion for a directed verdict. The trial court stated:

I'm going to deny the motion. The basis for the motion is- obviously, it's not my job to waive the evidence. It's whether the evidence exists or not, the evidence that exist Hass to be viewed in the light most favorable to the state.

There was testimony that his erect penis was visible and I think that, obviously, the state of mind is something that has got to be – the jury's got to make a decision based on circumstantial evidence. People very rarely give direct evidence of their state of mind, and I think the fact that the defendant allegedly, according to the witness, was driving around in front of a busy store in the middle of the afternoon in broad daylight, I think that's enough to submit to the jury.

(R. p. 173, lines 4 to 18)

Immediately prior to the court questioning the Appellant as to his right to testify and after the charge conference, the Appellant again raised the issue relating to a directed verdict and the trial judge again denied the same (R. p. 184 line 10 - p. 186 line 16).

The Appellant rested and did not present any evidence. The Appellant requested the court to charge the following: "Indecent refers to the state or condition of being offensive, especially in a vulgar or sexual way, indecent means offensive, modest, obscene and unseemly." (R. p. 183, lines 19 to 24). (This request to charge was made during the charging conference.) State, Appellant and trial judge spent time discussing having a charge defining indecent but the trial judge declined to charge a definition of indecent (R. p. 181, line 1 to page 183, line 24). The court charged the statutory elements of Indecent Exposure (R. p. 211, lines 11 to 25).

The jury convicted the Appellant and the trial judge sentenced the Appellant.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE CLOSE OF THE STATE'S CASE**

The Appellant timely made a motion for directed verdict at the close of the state's case. Appellant set forth that the state has failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant committed the crime charged. Appellant argued that the State's evidence merely created a suspicion that the Appellant committed the crime and the suspicion was not sufficient to survive a directed verdict motion. In addition, Appellant argued that the court had to consider the existence of competent evidence because the physical evidence that existed which the state presented contradicted Ms. Jarrett's statement that she saw his penis. Appellant

submitted that the court must take into account the evidence and to some degree the weight of the evidence in making a decision as to whether to allow the case to proceed. If the physical evidence is totally inconsistent with the statement of the victim which is the only evidence of the elements of the crime, then the directed verdict should have been granted.

Appellant recognizes that when ruling on a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 428, 753 S.E.2d 402, 408 (2013). “The trial court should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. On the other hand, a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.” Id. At 409. The court further stated that on appeal, when reviewing a denial of a directed verdict motion, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in light most favorable to the State. Id. at 409.

The State had the burden of providing direct evidence of the elements of guilt or substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt. State v. Smith, 359 S.C. 481, 490, 597 S.E.2d 888 , 893 (Ct. App. 2004) . In the case at hand, the state was required to prove 1) the Appellant exposed his private parts; 2) it was an indecent exposure; 3) the exposure was willful and malicious; and 4) the exposure occurred in a public place on the property of others or for the view of any person on the street or highway. (R. p. 211, lines 15 – 20; S.C. Code Section. 16-15-130). The Appellant asserted that he did not expose his private parts, it was not indecent and the exposure was not willful or malicious if it did occur (R. p. 167, lines 12 - p. 168, line 7).

The Appellant included the entirety of the State's case so this court has all the evidence the trial judge had when it decided the directed verdict motion.

Appellant submits that as to element one, the exposure of his private parts, there was no competent direct evidence. Although the law is clear that the trial court does not weigh the evidence, at the same time the trial court cannot ignore the fact that the evidence the state relies upon is physically and factually impossible based upon the videos the state has presented and put into evidence. Stated differently, even though a person might testify she saw something, if the physical evidence demonstrates what she says she saw was impossible to observe, Appellant submits the trial judge should and must consider the same and take that into account. For instance, a witness can assert that she saw a man's heart explode inside his body and therefore die of a heart attack but it would be impossible to physically see the heart explode. The court could not rely upon a testimony that the person's heart exploded to prove he died of a heart attack. Despite a statement being made that his heart exploded, Appellant submits that if that were the issue, the court could not accept that as evidence. Likewise, when the State relies upon direct evidence, the trial court has to at least view the evidence in light of the physical evidence the state produced to substantiate that direct evidence. If the physical evidence contradicts the statement, Appellant submits it's no longer competent evidence. In fact, it should not be considered at all if the testimony contradicts the physical evidence.

In this case, the physical evidence, the videos, contradict what the witness says she could see. The physical evidence demonstrates that appellants vehicle was next to the victim for approximately 1 to 2 seconds while constantly moving, never slowed, never stopped and

the Appellant was in a SUV while the victim was walking and was some distance from the SUV. The car windows were closed contrary to the victim's assertion that the windows were all open. The vehicle did not slow or stop contrary to the victim's original statement that the appellant was pacing her. The back windows were tinted. These inconsistencies discount entirely the direct evidence the state relied upon for the first element, the exposure.

As to the second element, the State did not present substantial circumstantial evidence to substantiate the same. Appellant requested the court to charge the jury on a definition of indecent but the trial court refused. The same is addressed below. The question is what is indecent. **Black's Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition**, defines indecent exposure as "exposure to site of the private parts of the body in a lewd or indecent manner in a public place.... Term refers to exhibition of those private parts which instinctive modesty, human decency or self-respect require shall be kept covered in presence of others; exposure of person becomes indecent when it occurs at such time and place where reasonable man knows or should know his act will be open to observation of others." In this case, if there was an exposure, it was inside of Appellant's vehicle while he was driving, not stopping and not doing anything to call attention to himself. His windows were closed. As such, the only evidence is circumstantial that an exposure was indecent. This will be further addressed below.

The next element is that the exposure was willful and malicious. A willful act is one that is voluntary and intentional and malicious is intentional and deliberate doing of a wrongful act intending it to be wrong in committing the act without just cause (R. p. 212, lines 16 to 25). The trial judge set forth that state of mind is something that has got to be made based on circumstantial evidence. As the Appellant was arguing, the trial judge agreed that the State was

relying upon circumstantial evidence to prove several of the elements of indecent exposure. In this case, there is not substantial circumstantial evidence to support the elements of willful and malicious and indecent. The State relied upon the fact that the Appellant was driving around in the Walmart parking lot during the day to support its allegation that indecent exposure occurred. The State argued this to the trial judge. The problem is that there was absolutely no evidence the Appellant was doing a wrongful act intending it to be wrong. The Appellant had every right to drive his vehicle around in a public parking lot. He could have been waiting for a family member. He could have dropped someone off or he could have been meeting someone at Walmart or Lowes. No law or ordinance was violated with the Appellant driving around the parking lot. There was nothing to support the elements of willful or malicious conduct on the part of the Appellant assuming his penis was visible. He did not slow down. He did not stop. He did nothing to call attention to himself. As such, Appellant submits the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a directed verdict.

**II. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT STRIKING STEPHANIE JARRETT'S STATEMENT "HE MADE SURE I COULD SEE IT"**

In recross examination, the question directed to Ms. Jarrett was "You didn't see the water bottle? You didn't see the bag of clothes?" Ms. Jarrett stated "He made sure I could see it." Appellant contemporaneously moved to strike that statement. The trial judge overruled the request to strike (R. p. 164, lines 11 to 17).

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. In addition, to warrant reversal based on the

wrongful admission of evidence, the complaining party must prove resulting prejudice. Prejudice occurs when there is a reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influence the verdict. **State v. Byers**, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). See also **State v. Brewer**, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015)

The failure of the trial judge to strike this testimony was an error of law and prejudicial. First, the statement is a statement of the appellant's state of mind without any basis or foundation. In addition, it was not responsive to any question. The statement was not cumulative to any other evidence in the record. As seen above, the Appellant's state of mind was an issue and the trial court even commented the state had to rely upon circumstantial evidence in attempting to prove the Appellant's state of mind as to willful and malicious. Ms. Jarrett was the only witness to any of the substantive evidence of the crime. Her testimony has already been shown to be inconsistent with the physical evidence of the videos. To have allowed this unsolicited statement to go before the jury and not strike it and direct the jury to disregard it was clearly prejudicial and unfairly prejudiced the jury.

### **III. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT CHARGING THE JURY ON A DEFINITION OF INDECENT.**

The appellant requested that the court charge the jury on the definition of indecent. The appellant gave a specific charge that he requested for the jury. The issue of indecent was an issue before the court and was strenuously argued during the directed verdict motion. In addition, the witness was questioned as to what she saw.

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. **State v. Hill**, 315 S.C. 260, 433 S.E.2d 848 (1993). A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. **Id.** A trial court has a duty to give a

requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and which is supported by the evidence. State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 466 S.E.2d 375 (Ct.App.1996). See also State v. Austin, 299 S.C. 456, 385 S.E.2d 830 (1989) (defendant is generally entitled to requested jury instruction if it is a correct statement of the law on an issue raised by the indictment); State v. West, 138 S.C. 421, 136 S.E. 736 (1927)(it is duty of court to charge jury as to law which is applicable to facts as brought out in testimony). In this case, there was no evidence to support the issue of indecent, malicious or willful. Appellate was entitled to have the trial judge explain what indecent was based upon the law. It was reversible error, appellant submits, do not advise the jury of the definition in Black's Law Dictionary defining indecent as the state or condition of being offensive, especially in a vulgar or sexual way. Indecent means offensive, and modest, obscene and unseemly. The same as the definition and would have properly guided the jury. To fail to provide this guidance to the jury was error and prejudicial to the appellant. As pointed out in the statement of facts, the entire case rested upon one and a half seconds. The trial testimony by the witness was inconsistent with the physical evidence.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should reverse the conviction of the Appellant.