RECEIVED

Feb 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000533

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY JACK DAUER,

Petitioner.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

the moment Dauer pulled alongside her in the parking lot, corroborating her testimony. (State's Exhibit #10 at 21:20; Tr.p.187).

c. Discussion.

The trial court correctly denied Dauer's motion for directed verdict because the State produced direct evidence of the charged crime. Stephanie Jarret testified that as she walked out of Walmart, Dauer "pulled alongside" her so that she "saw into his vehicle." When she did, she saw his "erect penis with his hand at the base." (Tr.p.199). She testified Dauer "made sure [she] could see it." (Tr.p.221).

Dauer claims Jarrett's version of events was "impossible" based on surveillance footage from Walmart. Specifically, he asserts the video contradicts Jarrett's statement to police that Dauer "slowed down" as he pulled alongside her in the parking lot. Dauer also cites Jarrett's testimony that Dauer's passenger side window was down when she saw his penis, asserting the surveillance video shows the window was up. He argues these alleged inconsistencies required the trial court to direct a verdict of not guilty.

Dauer's directed verdict motion boiled down to an attempt to have the trial court determine the facts of the case. The trial court properly denied his motion because factual disputes are properly resolved by the jury, not the trial court. When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477–78 (2004). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict only when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. Id. A directed verdict motion should be denied when the evidence yields more than one inference

or its inference is in doubt. Gadson ex rel. Gadson v. ECO Servs. of S.C., Inc., 374 S.C. 171, 176, 648 S.E.2d 585, 588 (2007). The trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002).

Jarrett maintained throughout her testimony that Dauer's front passenger window was down, and insisted she could "clearly" see his penis. (Tr.p.216; 219–21). When defense counsel challenged her statement to police that Dauer "slowed down" as he passed her, alleging the surveillance video showed Dauer's brake lights were activated only for "a second," she insisted that it "felt slow" to her. (Tr.p.214). Walmart surveillance video corroborated Jarret's account, showing Dauer's vehicle pull alongside her with its brake lights activated. (State's Exhibit #10 at 21:20). The passenger side window is not visible on the video at the time Dauer's vehicle passes Jarret.

Jarrett's testimony was direct evidence of indecent exposure, which is all that is required to survive a directed verdict motion. To the extent there were conflicting facts, it was the exclusive province of the jury to resolve these disputes. Furthermore, even if Jarrett's recollection was inaccurate in the ways Dauer alleges, it would hardly make it "impossible" for her to have seen Dauer's penis. Brief of Appellant at 8. Even if Dauer's passenger side window was not down, and even if Dauer did not "slow down," it would still have been entirely possible for Jarrett to see his penis through the car window. The alleged factual inconsistencies

cited by Dauer do nothing to disprove Jarrett's allegations, and fall far short of demonstrating an "impossibility" of the direct evidence offered by the State.

The State presented direct evidence that Dauer intentionally exposed his erect penis in a Walmart parking lot. Accordingly, the trial correctly refused to direct a verdict of not guilty. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the victim's statement that Dauer "made sure [she] could see" his penis because it was based on her perception and relevant to prove Dauer intentionally exposed his private parts.

a. Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014).

b. Discussion.

The trial correct did not abuse its discretion by allowing Jarrett to testify that Dauer "made sure" she could see his penis. The testimony was based on her perception and was highly relevant as to whether Dauer "willfully and maliciously" exposed himself, as required by the indecent exposure statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130. Dauer claims this testimony was erroneously admitted because it was "a statement of the appellant's state of mind" and "unresponsive to any question." He is wrong on both counts.

As a preliminary matter, Dauer does not cite any authority to support his argument. Accordingly, this court should deem it abandoned. First Savings Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (stating when an "[a]ppellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertion," the issue is deemed abandoned on appeal).

Even if preserved, Dauer's argument is meritless. The testimony was not inadmissible as a comment on Dauer's "state of mind." The "state of mind"

exception to the hearsay rule is not implicated here because Jarrett did not repeat any out-of-court statements. See Rule 803(3), SCRE. Rather, Jarrett's testimony was about her direct observations of Dauer's conduct. Her comment that Dauer "made sure [she] could see it" conveys that Dauer positioned himself so that Jarrett could see his penis. See State v. Frasier, 431 S.C. 234, 252, 847 S.E.2d 274, 284 (Ct. App. 2020), reh'g denied (Sept. 21, 2020) (explaining a witness may testify that a suspect consented to search based on his "conduct"). This was merely her observation of events she directly perceived. To the extent her testimony can be said to be a comment on his "state of mind," it was at most a "natural inference" or "impression [from] observed facts." See State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 464, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996); Rule 701, SCRE ("If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are **rationally based on the perception of the witness**, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.") (emphasis added).

Nor was the testimony unresponsive. In fact, it was responsive to the cross-examination of defense counsel, during which he repeatedly asserted that Jarrett could not have seen Dauer's penis in the "split second" in which he passed her. (Tr.p.221). Finally, the testimony was exceedingly relevant because it bore directly on the "willful and malicious" element of indecent exposure. See State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 527, 728 S.E.2d 492, 498 (Ct. App. 2012) (explaining "whether a

defendant possessed the requisite intent at the time the crime was committed is typically a question for jury determination because, without a statement of intent by the defendant, proof of intent must be determined by inferences from conduct"); Rule 402, SCRE (providing all relevant evidence is admissible unless excluded by some other rule or law).

Jarrett's testimony was proper fact testimony based on her perception. It was relevant to establish that Dauer "willfully and maliciously" exposed himself, as required by the indecent exposure statute. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting it. This Court should affirm.

III. The trial court gave an accurate definition of indecent exposure and Dauer suffered no prejudice from the trial court's refusal to give his proposed jury charge based on a non-precedential definition of the word "indecent" where his defense was complete denial.

a. Standard of review.

An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error when the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 550, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011).

b. Discussion.

Dauer argues the trial court erred by refusing his proposed jury charge defining the word "indecent." The South Carolina code defines the crime of indecent exposure as follows: "[i]t is unlawful for a person to wilfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130. Dauer requested an instruction defining indecent as "a state or condition of being outrageously offensive, especially in a vulgar or sexual way. . . offensive, immodest, obscene" (Tr.p.236–38). The State objected to the phrase "outrageously offensive," arguing this was not the meaning of the statute. (Tr.p.238). Defense counsel admitted that his requested charge was not based on any South Carolina precedent. (Tr.p.238–39).

The trial court agreed with the State that outrageousness was not an element of the crime of indecent exposure, and informed counsel that he did not believe the proposed charge would be helpful to the jury. (Tr.p.238–39). The court did agree to charge the definition of malice and willfulness, and expressed openness to giving part of Dauer's proposed instruction. (Tr.p.240). The court ultimately defined indecent exposure as follows:

In order to be guilty of indecent exposure, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 1) the defendant exposed his private parts; 2) it was an indecent exposure; 3) the exposure was willful and malicious; 4) the exposure occurred in a public place on the property of others or for the view of any person on the street or highway. A willful act is one that is voluntary and intentional. A malicious act means the intentional and deliberate doing of a wrongful act intending it to be wrong in committing the act without any just cause or excuse.

(Tr.p.268).

- i. **Dauer waived his objection by stating he had "no objection" at the conclusion of the charge.**

Dauer failed to preserve this argument for appeal. Though he did request the charge during the charge conference, he did not object at the conclusion of the court's charge. (Tr.p.270). Instead, he specifically stated he had no objection to the charge as given, despite being given a clear opportunity to object by the trial court. (Tr.p.270). He failed to object even though the trial court expressed openness to giving part of his charge, and made no definitive final ruling as to what would be included. Accordingly, Dauer waived his objection when he explicitly stated he had no objection. State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding that objection to jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where

Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge that he had no objection to the instruction). This Court should affirm.

ii. The charge accurately and adequately stated the law.

The trial court's charge was correct and adequate as given. State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005) (explaining a jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law). The indecent exposure statute provides "[i]t is unlawful for a person to wilfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130.

Dauer's definition would have added little to the jury's understanding of the crime. State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 498, 787 S.E.2d 480, 482 (2016) (explaining jury instructions "should be designed to enlighten the jury and aid it in arriving at a correct verdict"). To say that the exposure must be "offensive in a sexual way" does little to clarify the definition; exposure of sexual organs can always be said to be in a sense sexual. Likewise, there is little to no distinction between the words "indecent" and "immodest." As the court stated, the word "indecent" is in common usage and within the understanding of an average juror.

Furthermore, the proposed charge was potentially inaccurate. The statute makes no mention of vulgar or sexual offensiveness. In fact, South Carolina has another statute which makes it illegal to "wilfully and knowingly expose[] the private parts of his person *in a lewd and lascivious manner* and in the presence of

any other person" S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-365 (emphasis added). The existence of a similar offense which explicitly lists lewdness as an element suggests that the legislature did not intend to make it an element of indecent exposure. Surely, the legislature could have done so if it wished. Likewise, no South Carolina case has ever stated that indecent exposure carries an element of "offensiveness." See also Minor v. State, 232 Ga. App. 246, 246, 501 S.E.2d 576, 577 (1998) (explaining Georgia's public indecency statute "does not require that some person be embarrassed, offended or otherwise outraged").

Nor has this court ever interpreted the statute to include this element. Rather, the Supreme Court has held simply that "the offense of indecent exposure consists of the exposure of private parts of the person to the public view." State v. Rouse, 262 S.C. 581, 584, 206 S.E.2d 873, 874 (1974). This definition incorporates a broader class of conduct—inappropriate public nudity—that is not necessarily vulgar or overtly sexual in nature. This is essentially the definition defense counsel gave in his opening statement; that one commits indecent exposure by "exposing himself." (Tr.p.70).

Furthermore, the facts of this case are not conducive to a helpful analysis of the requirements of the statute. If Dauer did what Jarrett alleged—went out of his way to display his erect penis in a Walmart parking lot—surely his conduct meets the definition of indecent exposure under any rational interpretation. The fact that Dauer exposed his erect, rather than flaccid, penis removes any ambiguity and shows his conduct was unmistakably sexual in nature. Accordingly, the facts of this

case do not present a helpful framework for distinguishing between sexual and nonsexual conduct that Dauer's proposed charge may help illuminate in an appropriate case. See Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 438 (2011) (explaining jury charges should be assessed for error "in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial"). This Court should affirm.

iii. Dauer suffered no prejudice from the court's refusal to give his proposed instruction.

Dauer suffered no prejudice from the court's refusal to give his proposed charge. If his conduct was ambiguously sexual, or subject to differing interpretations, then perhaps the proposed charge would have made a difference in the outcome. But Dauer's conduct clearly meets the definition for indecent exposure under any rational interpretation. Accordingly, the court's decision not to give Dauer's proposed charge was not prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728 (2000) ("If the instructions given to the jury afford the proper test for determining the issues, the failure to give one side's requested instructions is not prejudicial.").

Dauer's defense was complete denial; he attacked the credibility of the witness's perception rather than arguing that his conduct was not "indecent." Defense counsel argued: "I have no idea what Ms. Jarrett saw, but it wasn't my client doing something with his penis out and erect or anything else. He didn't do it. He was driving through a parking lot. She assumed she saw something, and it went from there." (Tr.p.292).

A case may soon present itself that requires this Court to explicate the meaning of the indecent exposure statute to gauge its applicability to a particular set of facts. This is not that case. If the jury believed Jarrett's testimony, Dauer was clearly guilty of indecent exposure. Just as there was no need to define the phrase "public place" because there was no question the act occurred in public, the "indecent" element of the crime was not seriously in question. The court's decision not to give Dauer's proposed charge had no impact on the case. See State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144–45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998) (explaining error is harmless where it does not affect the outcome of trial). Accordingly, Dauer suffered no prejudice from the court's refusal to give the charge. Brandt, 393 S.C. at 550, 713 S.E.2d at 603 ("To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant."). This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

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